SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MERVIN SANDERS

VS.

APPELLANT'S

FILED

AUG - 6 2009

Office of the Clerk Supreme Court Court of Appeals NO. 2008-CP-01052-COA

APPELLEE

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF PIKE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

Respectfully submitted

Mervin Sanders #06438 pro se

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- On January 21, 1990, I Mervin Sanders (sometimes 1. "Sanders") was arrested County, Pike in "Appellant or Mississippi, and charge with possession of cocaine with intent to sell. It was not until October 17, 1991, that the State of Mississippi (sometimes "Appellee" or the State") finally got around to indicting the appellant Sanders on the same charge. Counsel was appointed on october 23, 1991, see (R. 230). And I sanders was "swiftly" brought to trial eight (80 days late, see (R. 222). The length of the delay between the date of my "Sanders" arrest and the date of my indictment was 613 days. from January 21, 1990, until Octobet 31, 1991. In the cause number 13,732, the State of Mississippi vs. Mervin Sanders in the Circuit Court of Pike County, Mississippi. See (R. 2-3).
- 2. On October 31, 1991, I Sanders was found guilty of unlawful possessiobn of cocaine with intent to deliver. On November 6, 1991, I Sanders was sentenced to thirty years imprisonment without parole, probation, good time, or early release and further ordered to pay a fine in the amount of \$30.000. See (R. 4-5).
- 3. On December 6, 1991, counsel for the defendant filed Notice of Appeal. See (R. 145-149). On June 6, 1996, my Sanders conviction and sentenced were affirmed by the Supreme Court of Mississippi. Sanders v. State 678 So.2d 663 (Miss. 1996), see (R. 150).

4. On or about April 3, 1998, I Mervin Sanders filed in the Mississippi Supreme Court my Application For Leave to File Motion For Post-Conviction Relief, see (R. 151). And along with Brief as Amicus Cuiae filed by Attorney Armis E. Hawkins. See (R. 152), and on October 2, 1998, the State filed in the Supreme Court of Mississippi its Response for Leave to Proceed in the Circuit Court of Pike for Post-Conviction Relief.

Sanders' initial proceedings asking to seek post-conviction relief were docteted in the Supreme Court as No. 98-M-00525. Those proceedings remain among the files and records of the Supreme Court and are of considerable relevance here.

- 5. On October 13, 1998, the Supreme Court entered its Order granting Sanders leave to file his Motion for Post-Conviction Relief in the Circuit Court of Pike County, Mississippi and along with the Brief as Amicus Curiae filed by Attorney Armis E. Hawkins. (R. 152-153).
- 6. On October 13, 1998, the Supreme Court entered its Order granting Sanders leave to file his Motion for Post-Conviction relief in the Circuit Coury of Pike County, On December 7, 1998, the Supreme Court entered a further Order clarifying its prior Order and providing that sanders had been "granted leave by this Court's Order of October 13, 1998, to proceed in the Pike County Circuit Court ... on all issue raised in this Court."
- 7. On February 12, 1999, and acting under th authority of the Order of October 13, 1998 and December 17, 1998, Sanders filed in the Circuit Court of Pike County, my Motion For

Post-Conviction Relief. At the same time, I Sanders filed my Motion that I be allowed to proceed in forma pauperis and that, in accordance with Miss. Code §§ 99-15-15, -39-23(1), counsel be appointed to represent me. See (R. 165), Sanders also request that the undersigned, James L. Robertson, be appointed as my counsel.

- 8. On April 19, 2000, I Sanders filed my Motion For Summary Judgment. In that Motion, I Sanders noted that the Request had been on file for six months without denial or objection and hat, as a matter of law,, the facts set forth therein should be taken as admitted. Rule 36(a), Miss. R. Civ. P.. Taking the facts so stated as the facts of the case, there remaind no genuine issue of matter facts and I Sanders became entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), Miss. R. Civ. P..
- 9. On May 17, 2000, the State filed its (Cross) Motion for Summary Judgment. In its Cross-Motion, the State only reiterated the groung which the State had presented in its original Response of October 2, 1998, and which had been rejected by the Supreme Court by its Orders of October 13, 1998 and December 17, 1998.
- 10. On June 21, 2000, I sanders filed my Response and Opposition to the State's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment. In my Respone and Oppsition, I Sanders made clear that the grounds upon which the State relied in its Cross-Motion had already been rejected by the Supreme Court in its Order of October 3, 1998 and

December 17, 1998, that the rejection of those defense had became the law of the case, and that the State could not proceed thereon.

At no point did the State deny the truth of the facts set forth in the Request for Admissions. The State presented no reason why it could not have made response and objections, allowed by Rules 36, Miss. R. Civ. P., nor did the State offer any good cause why it should be allowed to makes its response or objections so many months after the expiration of the thirty day time limit. At no point did the state present to the Circuit Court any argument or explanation of how, if the facts set forth in the Request for Admissions were taken as true, the Court could deny relief to Sanders.

- 11. On December 6, 200, the Circuit Court enteredalits of inal Judgment granting the State's Motion for Summary Judgment and denying my Sanders Motion for Summary Judgment. The Circuit Court acted without ever setting a hearing for briefs on the matter and issue set forth in the resoective Motion then pending. See (R. 166 number 5).
- 12. On January 10, 2001, I Sanders filed in the Circuit Court of Pike County my Motion that I be allowed to appeal in forma pauperis and that accordence with Miss. Codre Annotated §§ 99-15-15 and 99-39-23(1), counsel be appointed to represent me. That James L. Robertson, MSB 5612, of Jackson, Mississippi, had

represented Sanders throughout the proceeding in the Circuit Court of Pike County, had become throughly familiar with the case, and had a substantial familiarity with post-conviction proceeding in Mississippi. I Sanders asked that Mr. Robertson be appointed to represent me on that appeal of the Circuit Court's denial of my application for post-conviction relief. The Circuit Court granted Sanders's Motion for leave to proceed in forma pauperis but refused Sanders's request that Mr. Robertson be appointed represent me. Instead, the Circuit Court pointed Paul M. Luckett of McComb, Mississippi, who was completely unfamiliar with the case.

This case bore docket number 2001-CA-00073-COA

These proceeding remain among the file and records

of the Supreme Court and are considerable relevance here.

^{13.} The Mississippi Court of Appeal affirmed the lower Court ruling on June 25, 2002. Sanders v. State 846 So.2d 230 (Miss. App. 2002), reh'g denied January 14, 2003, cert. denied May 15, 2003. See (R. 154).

^{14.} On or about December 19, 2003, I Mervin Sanders filed in the Southern District of Mississippi, Jackson Division, Pettition Foe Writ of Habeas Corpus 28 U.S.C. § 2254. See (R. 155).

^{15.} On or about January 25, 2006, in the United States Court of Appeal For the Fifth Circuit Court, dismissed for want of prosecution. The Appellant failed to timely pay docketing fee. See (R. 156).

- 16. On August 22, 2005, I Sanders filed in the Circuit Court of Lincoln County, Mississippi. A Petition For Writ Of Habeas Corpous, Motion to Vacate and Set Aside Conviction and Sentence. Stating that the prior convictions used to shown that I was an habitual offender in the Circuit Court of Pike County, Mississippi was void. See (R. 157-160).
- 17. On November 10, 2005, the Circuit Court of Lincoln County, denied the Motion For Post-Conviction Collateral Relief. See (R. 161-162).
- 18. On or about November 14, 2006, the Court of Appeal of Mississippi, affirmed the lower Court Order. Sanders v. State, 942 So.2d 298 (Miss. 2006). See (R. 163-164)
- 19. On or about February 15, 2008, I Mervin Sanders filed in the Circuit Court of Pike County, Mississippi, A Motion Under Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure 60 B(4), to Vacate the Judgment on the ground that Judge Joe N. Pigott was disqualified under Mississippi Code Judicial Conduct Canon 3(1)(a), that at the time he heard this action and entered the judgment in favor of the State of Mississippi in cause number 13,732, the State of Mississippi vs. Mervin Sanders, on/or about October 31, 1991. See (R. 221).
- 20. On or about September 10, 2008, the Circuit Court of Pike County, denied the relief. See (R. 439-440).
 - 21 On September 22. 2008, I filed in the Circuit Court of

Pike County, the following: (1) Notice of Appeal, (2) Designation of the Records, (3) Motion to Allow Appeal in Forma Pauperis, (4 Affidavit of Indigent and (5) Certificate of Service. See (R. 441-447).

- 22. On November 5, 2008, I received a Notice from the Supreme Court of Mississippi stating that they have not received a copy of the certificate of compliance in accordance with M.R.A.P. 11(b)1. See (R. 455).
- 23. On January 6, 2009, I Sanders filed in the Circuit Court of Pike my certificate of compliance in accordance with M.R.A.P. 11(b)(1). See (R. 448-455).
- 24. On or about January 6, 2009, I filed in the Supreme Court of Mississippi, Emergency Application For Extraordinary Relief, under Rules 21 (c), 21 (e) and 27 of the Mississippi Rules of appellate Practice. requesting that the Supreme court to enter an Order Vacating the Order of Judge Michael M. Taylor, denying the Motion in cause number 08-051-PCT filed in the Circuit Court of Pike County, Mississippi, on February 29, 2008, and ruled on it in September 10, 2008. That under Mississippi Rules of Civil procedure 60 B(4), to Vacate the judgment on the disqualified under Pigott was Judge Joe Ν. ground Mississippi Code Judicial Conduct Cannon 3 C(1)(a), at the time he heard the action and entere the judgment in favor of the State of Mississippi in cause number 13,732, the State of Mississippi

vs. Mervin Sanders, in the Circuit Court of Pike County, Mississippi, on or about October 31, 1991, and sentence on or about November 6, 1991. Or in the alternative, to vacate the judgment pursuant to 8(c), pending a final determination of the judgment of Judge Joe N. Pigott was without jurisdiction to hear the case. See (R. 479). And at the same time I gave notice to the Circuit Court of Pike County, Mississippi of this filing. See (R. 456-457).

This case bore docket number 2006-M-01311 in the Supreme Court of Mississippi as Mervin Sanders vs. the State of Mississippi. Those proceeding remain among the files and records of the Supreme Court and are of considerable relevance here.

^{25.} On or about February 2, 2009, in the Circuit Court of Pike county, denied the Relief of the Motion I Sanders filed on February 15, 2008, as cause number 08-051-PCT. Motion under Mississippi Rules of Civil procedure 60 B(4), to Vacate the judgment on the ground that Judge Joe N. Pigott was disqualified under Mississippi Code Judicial Conduct Canon 3 C(1)(a), that at time he heard the action and entered the judgment in favor of the Mississippi in cause number 13,732, the State State Mississippi vs. Mervin Sanders, on or about October 31, 1991. This Motion had the same cause number of the rule in September 10, 2008 in the Circuit Court of Pike County, as 08-051-PCT. See (R. 439-440 and 458-459).

^{26.} On or about February 4, 2009, the Supreme Court of Mississippi denied the Emergency Application For Extraordinary Relief. See (R. 480).

- 27. On February 12, 2009, I Sanders filed in the Supreme Court of Mississippi, a Motion for Enlargement of Time Within to file Motion For Rehearing. See (R. 481-482).
- 28. On February 18, 2009, I Sanders filed in the Supreme Court of Mississippi, the Motion For Rehearing. See (R. 483-497).
- 29. On February 20, 2009, I Sanders received from the Circuit Court of Pike County, the Order denying the Motion to Vacate Sentence and Set Aside Conviction and Sentence in cause number 08-051-PCT. See (R. 471-473).
- 30. On February 27, 2009, I Sanders filed in the Circuit Court of Pike County, the following; (1) Notice oof Appeal, (2) Designation of the Record, (3) Motion to allow Appeal in Forma Pauperis, (4) Certificate of Compliance with Rule 11 (b)(1), (5) Affidavit of Indigency, (6) Affidavit of Oath, (7) Affidavit of Poverty and Certificate of service. See (R. 460-473).
- 31. On March 2, 2009, I Sanders filed in the Supreme Court of Mississippi, a Motion to Supplement Record to Motion For Rehearing. To show that Judge Michael M. Taylor had rule on the same Motion two time. See (R. 499-512).
- 32. On April 14, 2009, I Sanders received the Order from the Supreme Court of Mississippi, denying the Motion For Rehearing and the Motion to Supplement. See (R. 474 and 513-514).
- 33. On April 20, 2009, I Sanders filed in the Supreme Court of Mississippi, a Petition for Writ of Certiorari. See (R. 515-527).

34. On May 20, 2009, the Supreme Court of Mississippi, denied the Petition For Writ of Certiorari. See (R. 528).

"STATEMENT OF THE FACTS"

ISSUE I

I WAS DENIED THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSES OF THE FOURTEENTH

AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE 3,

SECTION 14 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CONSTITUTION TO A FAIR HEARING.

ON THE ISSUE TO VACATE THE JUDGEMENT ON THE GROUND THAT

JUDGE JOE N. PIGOTT WAS DISQUALIFIED UNDER MISSISSIPPI CODE

JUDICIAL CONDUCT CANON 3 C(1)(A), THAT AT THE TIME HE HEARD THE

ENTER JUDGEMENT IN FAVOR OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI IN CAUSE

NUMBER 13,732, THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI VS. MERVIN SANDERS. IN

THE CIRCUIT COURT OF PIKE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI. ON/OR ABOUT

OCTOBER 31, 1991, AND SENTENCE ON/OR ABOUT NOVEMBER 6, 1991.

BY JUDGE MICHAEL M. TAYLOR IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF PIKE COUNTY,

IN CAUSE NUMBER 08-051-PCT ON JANUARY 9, 2008, AND SEPTEMBER

10, 2008, FILED IN THAT COURT ON FEBRUARY 22, 2008.

COME NOW: The defendant, (Mervin Sanders), pro se and file this Appeal, pursuant to Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure 31(b).

SUMMARY OF RELIEF REQUESTED

Petitioner (Mervin Sanders), respectfully requests that this Court grant the following Relief.

1. That the Circuit Court Judge Michael M. Taylor, Orders of January 9, 2008, filed on February 2, 2009, and rule on against in September 10, 2008 be vacate and set aside and that I be given a New Hearing, or in the alternative this Court rule on the Motion under Hathcock v. Southern Farm Bureau Cas. Ins., 912 So.2d 848 (Miss. 2005). In determining whether a judge should have recused himself, this Court must consider the trial in its entirety and examine ruling to determine if those rulings were prejudicial to the moving party.

THE ORDER OF JANUARY 9, 2008.

- (¶1). This case is before the court on a claim for relief from a sentence imposed in 1991. The petitioner, Sanders, frames this claim with allegations of judicial misconduct dating back to 1978. The theory of the case is that Hon. Joe Piggott, who presided over a then one-judge district, sentenced Sanders so many times (four) that the judge should have declined to hear Sanders 1991 case. Sanders argues that since the judge should not have heard the case, the judge was without jurisdiction and the conviction and sentence should be set aside.
- (¶4). Sanders claim that Judge Pigott has prejudged the case at hand is unsupported by the record. Seeking to bolster his charge against Judge Piggott sanders alleges that a 1985 sentence handed down to Sanders by Judge Pigott should have been served consecutively instead of concurrently. Of course even if the statement is accepted as true it does nothing to help Sanders

support his claim that Judge Piggott was biased against him. See (R. 459), sign by Judge Michael M. Taylor on January 9, 2008.

Clearly it would require Judge Michael M. Taylor to an impossible test to foresee the future and rule on the Motion that, I Sanders filed on February 22, 2008. Under Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure 60 B(4) and Mississippi Code Judicial Conduct Canon 3 C(1)(A), to Vacate and Set Aside Conviction and Sentence in cause number 08-051-PCT. See (R. 6).

THE ORDER OF SEPTEMBER 10, 2008.

- (¶1). This case is before the Court on a claim for relief from a sentence imposed in 1991. The petitioner, Sanders, frames this claim with allegations of judicial misconduct dating back to 1978. The theory of the case is that Hon. Joe Pigott, who presided over a then one-judge district, sentenced Sanders so many times (four) that the judge should have declined to hear Sanders 1991 case. Sanders argues that since the judge should not have heard the case, the judge was without jursdiction and the conviction and sentence should be set aside.
- (¶4). Sanders claim that Judge Piggott has prejudged the case at hand is unsupport by the record. Seeking to bolster his charges against Judge Piggott Sanders alleges that a 1985 sentence handed down to Sanders by Judge Piggott should have been served consecutively instead of concurrently. Of course even if the statement is accepted as true it does nothing to help Sanders support his claim that judge Piggott was biased against him. See

(R. 440), sign by Judge Michael M. Taylor on September 10, 2008.

Further, The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that "[e]very litigant is entitled to nothing less than the cold neutrality of an impartial judge, who must possess the disinterestedness of a total stranger to the interest of parties involved in the litigation, whether that interest is revealed by an inspection of the record or developed by evidence included in the record." Jenkins v. Forest County Gen. Hosp., 542 So.2d 1180, 1181-82 (Miss. 1988). The Mississippi Supreme Court excepts that all trial judges will abide by the oath of office and "administer justice without respect to persons" while striving to "faithfully and impartially execute and perform all of their duties." In re Blake, 912 So.2d 907, 917 (Miss. 2005). The Bake Court adopt a test requiring that one view all circumstances. Id. In other words, where a reasonable person, knowing all circumstance, would conclude there is prejudice of such a degree that it adversely affects the client, the judge should recuse himself. Id.

In this case sub judice the defendant will shown that Judge Michael M. Taylor did not understand the law that Judge Pigott was disqualified from rule in my case four (4):time. See (R. 61-68.

STATE OF FACTS NECESSARY FOR UNDERSTANDING OF THE GROUND FOR RELIEF. UNDER THE MISSISSIPPI CONSTITUTION ARTICLE 6, § 165, MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED § 9-1-11, AND MISSISSIPPI

CODE OF JUDICIAL CANON 3 C(1)(A), THAT WILL SHOWN THAT

JUDGE JOE N. PIGOTT WAS DISQUALIFIED BEFORE TRIAL IN CAUSE NUMBER

13,732 THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI VS. MERVIN SANDERS IN THE

CIRCUIT COURT OF PIKE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI.

See Aetna Casualty and Surety Co. vs. Berry 669 so.2d 56, 75 (Miss. 1996): It must be remember, however, that it is the judge who must come forth and recuse himself so as to avoid any appearance of impropriety. Jenkins 570 So.2d 1192.

We might also reach a different conclusion if chanceller Bridges had given the parties an opportunity to object or consent to him sitting on the case. We recently addressed the issue of parties waiving their objections to judicial recusal in Banana v. State, 635 So.2d 851 (Miss. 1994), wherein we acknowledged that judge is both disqualification οf a Mississippi, in constitutional and statutory. Section 165 of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890 require a judge to disqualify himself "where the parties or either of them, shall be connected with in him by affinity or consanguinity, or where he may be interested in the same, except by the consent of the judge and of the parties.' Mississippi Code, in addition to requires for relation of the judge by affinity or consanguinirty, requires disqualified where the judge have been of counsel.

635 So.2d at 853 quoting Jenkins, 570 So.2d at 1192) (emphasis added). In Banana, the defendant was given the opportunity to

object to the judge sitting on his case, and after conferring with counsel, specifically waived any objections. We then held that he had indeed waived the recusal issue for purpose of his appeal.

In this case sub judice the petitioner were not given this opportunity. Judge Joe N. Pogott only let the Court know that he was the judge in cause number 9991, 9992 and 10376 in the Circuit Court of Lincoln County, Mississippi. And counsel stood still and did nothing, and this was at the Sentencing Hearing on November 6, 1991 after the trial. See (R. 395-396).

By the Court: Very well, Well, of course this same Judge is the Judge of the Circuit Court of Lincoln County, and I have independent recollection of having sentencing Mr. Sanders on those two occasions, the first of which was in the old courthouse before it was torn down, and the second time in the new court house after it was built. All right.

- 1. Prior to the start of this trial on October 13, 1991, the petitioner was indicted for the offense of unlawful possession of cocaine with intent to deliver with enhanced punishment and by an habitual criminal, arising out of three (3) prior felonies conviction. See (R. 2-3).
- 2. On September 20, 1978, I defendant pled guilty in the Circuit Court of Lincoln County, Mississippi, in cause number 9991 to the crime of unlawful sale of controlled substance, a felony under the laws of the State of Mississippi: and was sentenced by the Court to serve a term of five years in the

custody of Mississippi Department of Corrections. execution of said sentence was suspended an I was placed on probation for a period of five years under certain terms and conditions as set forth in the Order of the Court. See (R. 186). Also on said date, I defendant plead guilty to the crime of unlawful sale of controlled substance in cause number 9992, a felony under the laws of the State of Mississippi, and sentence by the Court to serve a term of five years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. However, execution of said sentence was suspended and I was placed on probation for a period of five years. Said order of probation is of record in Minute Book 18 at page 533 in said Clerk's office in Lincoln County, Mississippi. Said sentence was consecutively with sentence imposed in cause number 9991. See (R. 403-407.

- 3. On September 20, 1978, Judge N. Pigott sign off on the plea negotiation. See (R. 407).
- 4. On/or about June 1, 1983, in the Circuit Court of Lincoln County, Mississippi. The Assistant District Attorney Daniel H. fairly did a Petition For Revocation of Probation in cause number 9991 and 9992 the State of Mississippi vs. Mervin Sanders and Judge N. Pigott was at this Hearing. See (R. 408-409), which stated as following:

Petition now charge that the defendant has materially violated the term and conditions of his probation by wilfully, unlawfully, feloniously and knowingly having

in his possession more than one ounce of marihuana, but less one kilogram of marihuana, a controlled substance, with the unlawful and felonious intent of him, the said Mervin Sanders, wilfully, unlawfully, feloniously an knowing to distribute said marihuana to some other person or persons unknown on or about the 3rd day of May 1983, in Lincoln County, Mississippi.

5. On September 16, 1983, Judge Joe N. Pigott did the Order Revoking Probation in cause number 9991 and 9992, the State of Mississippi vs. Mervin. See (R. 412-413).

On that Order that was sign by Judge Joe N. Pigott, Revoking Probation, it show that I defendant was not appointed counsel at the Petition For Revocation of Probation and I stood along at this hearing. See (R. 412) it shown as following:

FRIDAY MORNING, SEPTEMBER 16TH, 1983

ORDER REVOKING PROBATION

This cause came to be heard this day upon oral oral and documentary proof for Revocation of Probation against the defendant, Mervin Sanders. And the Court find as follows:

See (R. 413) for the Minutes number

MINUTES 23 SEPTEMBER TERM, 1983 FRIDAY MORNING, 16TH, 1983

In Custis v. United States 114 S.Ct. 1738, 511 U.S. 496 (1994): As revered in a number of the case cited in this opinion, failure to appoint counsel at all will generally appear from the judgment roll itself of from an accompanying minute order. Plaintiff have showed that their was no appointment of counsel on the Order Revoking Probation. See (R. 412).

6. On August 30, 1983, in the Crcuit Court of Lincoln County, Mississippi. The defendant was indicted for the offense of unlawfully of more than one ounce of marihuana with intent to distribute, in cause number 10,372 the State of Mississippi v. Mervin Sanders. See (R. 414), shown as following:

On or about the 3rd day of May 983 in the County of aforesaid and within the jurisdiction of this Court, did wilfully, unlawfully, feloniously and knowingly have in his possession more than one ounce of marihuana, but less than one ounce of marihuana, a controlled substance, with the unlawful and felonious intent of him the said Mervin Sanders, wilfully, unlawful, feloniously and knowingly to distribute said marihuana to some other person or persons to the grand jurors unknow, contrary to and in violation of Section 41-29-139 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, and

7. On September 16, 1983, Judge Joe N. Pighott in the same cause number 10,372, the State of Mississippi vs. Mervin Sanders. That Judge Judge Joe N. Pigott handle it this way:

Dispostion 9/16/1983, Nolle Prosegui/dismissed. On this document it shown that the defendant had no counsel. see (R. 414-415). And this was the same offense which the defendant probation was revoked on. See (R. 412-413).

- 8. On September 8, 1983, in the Circuit Court of Lincoln County, Mississippi, the defendant was indicted for the same offense of unlawful possession of more than one ounce of marihuana with intent to distribute in cause number 10,399 the State of Mississippi vs. Mervin Sanders. See (R. 416), as shown above in notice this indictment stated the same.
- 9. On September 16, 1983, Judge Joe N. Pigott in the same cause number 10,399, the State of Mississippi vs. Mervin Sanders.

The Judge handl it the same he did in the above number 7. On this form and it shown no counsel name. See (R. 417). This is the same offense in which the defendant probation was revoked for. See (R. 412-413), and the same offense which the defendant was indicted for on August 30, 1983. See (R. 414).

10. At the Revocation of Probation Hearing that was did on or about June 1, or 1983, by Judge N. Pigott, see (R. 408-413), in cause number 9991 and 9992 was did in a violation of the defendant right to counsel.

In this case sub judice the defendant was not sentence at the time he plea guilty in September 20, 1978. Defendant was sentenced by the Court to a term of five years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Correction. However, execution of said sentence was suspended and I defendant was placed on probation—for a period of five years under certain terms and conditions as set forth in the order of the Court in cause number 9991 and the same in cause number 9992. See (R. 407).

The Supreme Court of Mississippi is well aware that all Revocation of Probation is entitled to be represented by appionted of counsel.

See Rily v. State 562 So.2d 1202 (Miss. 1990): citing Mempa v. Rhay, 389 U.S. 128, 88 S.Ct. 254, 10 L.Ed.2d 336 (1967) (Holding that a probation is entitled to be represented by appionted counsel at a combined revocation and sentencing hearing

unless the probation was sentenced at the time of trial). As showed above the defendant was not sentenced until the time that probation was revoked on September 16: 1983. See (R. 412-413).

The charge that happen on May 3, 1983, that was used to revoked the defendant probation. Judge Joe N. Pigott dismissed it on September 16, 1983 as zero conviction. See (R. 418). And in the Petition For Revocation of Probation, the defendant never had an accuser who could said that the defendant intent to distribute any marihuana to and this was the same information in the indictment in cause number 10,372 and 10,399. See (R. 409).

- 11. On August 30, 1983, I defendant Mervin Sanders was indicted for the offense of unlawful sale of more than one ounce of marihuana. In cause number 10,376 in the Circuit Court of Lincoln County, Mississippi. See (R. 419).
- 12. On September 8, 1983, I defendant was arraigned of the charge of unlawful sale of marihuana and entered a plea of not guilty in cause number 10,376 in the State of Mississippi vs. Mervin Sanders. See (R. 4200.
- 13. On September 16, 1983, at the Change of Plea And sentence. I defendant entered a guilty plea to one count of the sale of marihuana in violation of section § 41-29-139 of the Mississippi Code of annotated (1972), to eight (8) years to run consecutive to sentence in cause number 9991 and cause number 9992. See (R. 423).

14. On/or about September 15, 1984, Attorney Daniel H. Farily in his private practice filed a Motion For Modification of Sentence in cause number 9991, 9992 and 10,376 in the Circuit Court of Lincoln County, Mississippi. The State of Mississippi vs. Mervin Sanders, to have these prior conviction and sentence to run concurrently. See (R. 424), of the letter of the attorney.

Dear Mervin

I examined the records and found that the Judge Order back in 1978, that the sentence you received 1978 were order to be consecutively. I do not think we have much chance, but I will give it a shot any way.

15. On February 1, 1985, in the Circuit Court of Lincoln County, Mississippi. The State of Mississippi vs. Mervin Sanders in cause 999, 9992 and 10,376, Judge Joe, N. Pigott sign off on the order to chance the sentence from consecutively to concurrently. See (R. 426).

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