## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**MERVIN SANDERS** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2008-CP-1052

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

## BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: STEPHANIE B. WOOD

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A criminal conviction may not be set aside pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b) as the Post Conviction Collateral Relief Act is the exclusive procedure for the collateral review of criminal convictions and sentences. Additionally, assuming for the sake of argument that the Appellant could use a 60(b) motion to collaterally attack a criminal conviction and sentence, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in denying the Appellant's Rule 60(b)(4) motion as it was not timely filed and as the Appellant failed to make an adequate showing of exceptional circumstances which would warrant the circuit court's granting the motion.

#### ARGUMENT

THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE APPELLANT'S "MOTION UNDER MISSISSIPPI RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 60B(4) MISSISSIPPI CODE JUDICIAL CONDUCT V CANON 3C(1)(A) TO VACATE AND SET ASIDE CONVICTION AND SENTENCE."

The Appellant filed the motion at issue pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b)(4) which states that "on motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons: . . . the judgment is void." This Court has previously held that "[w]hen reviewing a lower court's denial of a Rule 60(b) motion, we will reverse only if the lower court abused its discretion in denying the motion." Cook v. State, 921 So.2d 1282, 1283 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (citing Askew v. Askew, 699 So.2d 515, 519 (Miss.1997)) (emphasis added).

A. A criminal conviction may not be set aside pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b) as the Post Conviction Collateral Relief Act is the exclusive procedure for the collateral review of criminal convictions and sentences.

Mississippi Code Annotated §99-39-3 states that the purpose of the Post Conviction Collateral Relief Act is to "revise, streamline and clarify the rules and statutes pertaining to post-conviction collateral relief law and procedures, to resolve any conflicts therein and to provide the courts of this state with an exclusive and uniform procedure for the collateral review of convictions and sentences." (*emphasis added*). The State recognizes that this Court held in *Cook v. State*, that "Mississippi courts have applied Rule 60(b) in several criminal cases" and declined to "establish a rule preventing such application in all criminal cases." 921 So.2d 1282, 1283 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). Certainly, Rule 60(b) may be applied to certain judgments entered denying or granting Petitions for Post Conviction Relief since a post-conviction petition is filed as an original civil action and "it is not inappropriate to apply the rules of civil procedure to post-conviction relief matters." *Henry v.* 

State, 999 So.2d 867, 870 FN3 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). However, as set forth above, the Post Conviction Collateral Act is the exclusive method for collaterally attacking a criminal judgment and sentence. As such, the Appellant's 60(b) motion could have been denied solely on this ground as it sought to collaterally attack the Appellant's 1991 criminal conviction and sentence.

## B. The Appellant's motion was not timely.

Assuming for the sake of argument that the Appellant could use a 60(b) motion to collaterally attack a criminal conviction and sentence, the motion was not timely filed. Rule 60(b) states that "the motion shall be made within a reasonable time." The judgment the Appellant seeks to vacate was entered on November 11, 1991, approximately seventeen years prior to his filing the 60(b)(4) motion. The facts which are the basis of his 60(b)(4) motion were known to Appellant at the time the judgment was entered. Thus, there was no reason for the delay. Further, the motion was filed only after the Appellant's direct appeal was denied, his Petition for Post-Conviction Relief was denied, and his Motion to Vacate and Set Aside his Conviction and Sentence was denied. It appears that the Appellant's Motion is simply one last effort to avoid serving the sentence imposed for his crime. Consequently, the Appellant's motion was not timely filed.

## C. The Appellant failed to make "an adequate showing of exceptional circumstances."

Again assuming for the sake of argument that the Appellant could use a 60(b) motion to collaterally attack a criminal conviction and sentence, the motion did not substantively prove what is required for relief. "[T]he general rule is that Rule 60(b) provides for extraordinary relief which may be granted only upon an adequate showing of exceptional circumstances.... A party is not entitled to relief merely because he is unhappy with the judgment...." *Cook v. State*, 921 So.2d 1282, 1283 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (quoting *Stringfellow v. Stringfellow*, 451 So.2d 219, 221 (Miss.1984)) (emphasis added). As noted above, the Appellant's motion was filed pursuant to Rule 60(b)(4)

which allows for the setting aside of void judgments. This Court previously held in *Harvey v. Stone County School Dist.* that "[a] judgment is void if 'the court that rendered it lacked jurisdiction of the subject matter of the parties, or if it acted in a manner inconsistent with due process of law." 982 So.2d 463, 468 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (quoting *Soriano v. Gillespie*, 857 So.2d 64, 69 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003)). The Appellant does not suggest that the circuit court lacked jurisdiction so the focus is on whether the court acted in a manner inconsistent with due process of law. The *Harvey* Court held in that regard that "due process is satisfied where there is notice and an opportunity to be heard." *Id.* at 468 - 469 (quoting *State v. Blenden*, 748 So.2d 77, 90 (Miss.1999)). The Appellant does not suggest that he was not given notice or an opportunity to be heard. In fact, the judgment which is the subject of the motion has previously been upheld by the Mississippi Supreme Court holding that there were no reversible errors. Moreover, the *Harvey* Court further held that "a due process violation so gross as to make the judgment void is extremely rare." *Id.* at 469 (quoting *Bryant, Inc. v. Walters*, 493 So.2d 933, 938 (Miss.1986)) (*emphasis added*).

Nonetheless, the Appellant argues that his motion should have been granted as Judge Joe Pigott should have been disqualified from presiding over his 1991 criminal trial and from sentencing him for that conviction due to his involvement with the Appellant's prior criminal proceedings. The Appellant claims that Judge Pigott presided over his trial in violation of several Canons of the Code of Judicial Conduct. The crux of his argument is that Judge Pigott should not have presided over his 1991 trial and sentencing hearing as he had previously presided over the Appellant's prior criminal proceedings including, but not limited to, a parole revocation hearing. Mississippi law is well-settled in this area and provides that "[a] judge is required to disqualify himself if a reasonable person, knowing all the circumstances, would harbor doubts about his impartiality." *King v. State*, 821 So.2d 864, 868 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) (quoting *Hunter v. State*, 684 So.2d 625, 630

(Miss.1996)). Additionally, the party challenging the judge has to overcome the presumption "that

a judge, sworn to administer impartial justice, is qualified and unbiased." Id. In the case at hand, the

Appellant did not overcome this presumption especially in light of the Mississippi Supreme Court's

holding in Brown v. State, wherein the Court held that "[a] judge is not disqualified to sit at the trial

of one accused of crime merely because previously thereto he has participated in other legal

proceedings against the same person." 829 So.2d 93, 99 (Miss. 2002) (quoting Adams v. State, 72

So.2d 211, 214 (Miss. 1954)). See also King v. State, 897 So.2d 981, 987-88 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004).

Additionally, this issue could have been properly handled during the Appellant's direct

appeal or in his Petition for Post Conviction Relief. See Harvey, 982 So.2d at 470 (holding that

"Rule 60(b) is designed for the extraordinary, not the commonplace"). Thus, the circuit court did

not abuse its discretion in denying the Appellant's motion.

**CONCLUSION** 

The State of Mississippi respectfully requests that this Honorable Court affirm the circuit

court's denial of the Appellant's Rule 60(b) motion.